

**REVISED PROPOSED REGULATION OF THE
ADMINISTRATOR OF THE DIVISION OF INDUSTRIAL
RELATIONS OF THE DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND
INDUSTRY**

LCB File No. R130-14

September 25, 2015

EXPLANATION – Matter in *italics* is new; matter in brackets ~~[omitted material]~~ is material to be omitted.

AUTHORITY: §1, NRS 616A.400 and 616B.021; §§2-6, 8, 12 and 23-25, NRS 616A.400; §7, NRS 616A.400 and 616C.453; §9, NRS 616A.400 and 616D.330; §10, NRS 616A.400 and 616C.065; §11, NRS 616A.400, 616C.065, 616C.235 and 616C.390; §13, NRS 616A.400 and 616C.250; §14, NRS 616A.400, 616C.245, 616C.250 and 616C.260; §§15-17, NRS 616A.400 and 616C.260; §18, NRS 616A.400 and 616C.490; §19, NRS 616A.400, 616C.130 and 616C.260; §20, NRS 616A.400 and 616C.550; §21, NRS 616A.400 and 616D.050; §22, NRS 616A.400 and 616D.120.

A REGULATION relating to industrial insurance; establishing provisions governing the transfer of claim files; revising provisions relating to the submission to an insurer of correspondence and other documents; establishing provisions governing the submission to an insurer of a written request for a determination; establishing provisions governing the purchase of a modified motor vehicle as an accident benefit; revising provisions relating to recordkeeping requirements and the maintenance of claim files; revising provisions relating to vocational rehabilitation; revising provisions relating to rating evaluations performed by a physician or chiropractor; and providing other matters properly relating thereto.

Legislative Counsel's Digest:

Existing law prescribes the duties of the Administrator of the Division of Industrial Relations of the Department of Business and Industry relating to the administration of the provisions of title 53 of NRS relating to industrial insurance and the handling of workers' compensation claims and the payment of such claims by employers, insurers and third-party administrators. The Administrator is authorized to adopt regulations to carry out these duties. (NRS 616A.400-616A.430)

Section 1 of this regulation establishes provisions governing the transfer from one insurer or third-party administrator to another of the file of a claim of an injured employee, including the

information which must be included and the persons to whom notice of such a transfer must be given.

Sections 4-6, 9, 10 and 12 of this regulation revise the duties of an insurer with regard to industrial insurance to extend those requirements to a third-party administrator as well.

Section 7 of this regulation sets forth certain requirements concerning the purchase by an insurer or employer on behalf of an injured employee of a modified motor vehicle as an accident benefit.

Sections 13, 15-17 and 19 of this regulation update provisions setting forth information regarding obtaining copies of documents adopted by reference by the Administrator.

Section 20 of this regulation revises the duties of an insurer with regard to the vocational rehabilitation counselor assigned to a claim and the plan for a program of vocational rehabilitation created for an injured employee.

Existing regulations provide that, if after a hearing the Administrator determines that an insurer, third-party administrator, organization for managed care, provider of health care or employer has committed a violation of the laws and regulations enforced by the Administrator, the Administrator will serve the entity with a copy of the findings of facts and conclusions of law and notice of the right to petition for judicial review. (NAC 616D.060) **Section 21** of this regulation includes an employee leasing company as an entity upon whom the Administrator will serve a copy of the findings of facts and conclusions of law and notice of the right to petition for judicial review.

Existing law requires firefighters, police officers and arson investigators to submit to certain physical examinations and tests to obtain industrial insurance benefits for lung disease and heart disease as occupational diseases. (NRS 617.454, 617.455, 617.457) Existing regulations require, as part of the required cardiac examinations, a urine test to determine glucose levels. (NAC 617.070) **Section 23** of this regulation provides that a blood test for glucose may also be used.

Existing regulations require the employer of an injured employee to schedule certain physical examinations of the injured employee. (NAC 617.080) **Section 24** of this regulation provides that an injured employee and his or her employer may agree in writing that the employee is responsible for scheduling such physical examinations.

Section 25 of this regulation repeals certain provisions relating to coverage required to be provided by a sole proprietor and provisions relating to elective coverage of corporate officers, volunteers and real estate brokers, broker-salespersons and salespersons.

Section 1. Chapter 616B of NAC is hereby amended by adding thereto a new section to read as follows:

1. If an insurer or third-party administrator transfers the file of a claim to another insurer or third-party administrator, the insurer or third-party administrator who transfers the file shall:

(a) Provide in a usable format to the insurer or third-party administrator who receives the file the information necessary to administer the claim.

(b) Provide in a usable format to the insurer or third-party administrator who receives the file the information necessary to comply with all reporting requirements and requests imposed by law.

(c) Continue to pay all compensation due the claimant until the insurer or third-party administrator who receives the file provides notice in writing to the insurer or third-party administrator who transferred the file that an account to pay such compensation has been established and funded.

(d) Provide to the insurer or third-party administrator who receives the file a printed report of all claims which are open on the date on which the file is transferred. The insurer or third-party administrator who transfers the file and the insurer or third-party administrator who receives the file shall retain a copy of the report for as long as necessary to assign responsibility for any failure to pay compensation, but in no event for a period of less than 2 years after the date on which the file is transferred. The report must be delivered to the insurer or third-party administrator who receives the file on or before the date on which the file is transferred and must include for each claim:

(1) The current status of the claim;

(2) For any compensation due within 90 days after the date on which the file is transferred, the dates on which the compensation is due and the anticipated period for which the compensation is due;

(3) Any pending issues and determinations;

(4) A brief summary of the history and projected outcome of the claim; and

(5) Information sufficient to enable the insurer or third-party administrator who receives the file to make timely payment of compensation and to continue administering the claims.

(e) Provide notice of the transfer by mail to:

(1) The injured employee whose claim is being transferred;

(2) The attorney or other authorized representative of the injured employee;

(3) Any person who is a provider of health care for the injured employee;

(4) Any person who is performing a rating evaluation of the injured employee;

(5) Any person who is administering the claim which is being transferred; and

(6) The Administrator and the Commissioner.

(f) Not later than 3 days after receiving a notice or other legal documentation relating to a contested claim that is before a hearing officer, appeals officer or court of competent jurisdiction:

(1) Notify, in writing, the sender of the notice or other legal documentation of the name, address and telephone number of the insurer or third-party administrator who receives the file; and

(2) Forward the notice or other legal documentation to the insurer or third-party administrator who receives the file.

2. *An insurer or third-party administrator who receives a file that is transferred from another insurer or third-party administrator shall:*

(a) *Within 30 days after the date of the transfer, review any open claim relating to the file and determine the action to be taken with regard to each claim.*

(b) *In a timely manner, pay all compensation set forth in the report described in paragraph (d) of subsection 1 unless the insurer or third-party administrator issues a written determination that such compensation is not due, which written determination must set forth the right to appeal by the injured employee.*

(c) *Take any other action set forth in the report described in paragraph (d) of subsection 1 and any other action necessary to ensure the timely and efficient administration of claims and payment of compensation and other benefits.*

Sec. 2. NAC 616B.121 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616B.121 The Administrator hereby adopts by reference the following publications:

1. ~~IAIABC~~ *EDI Implementation Guide for Proof of Coverage*, which is published by the International Association of Industrial Accident Boards and Commissions. A copy of the publication may be obtained from the International Association of Industrial Accident Boards and Commissions, 5610 Medical Circle, Suite 24, Madison, Wisconsin 53719, for the price of ~~[\$50 for members and \$95 for nonmembers.]~~ *\$195, or may be obtained free of charge by members at the Internet address <http://www.iaiaabc.org>.*

2. ~~Workers Compensation Policy Data Reporting Manual,~~ *Policy and Proof of Coverage Reporting Guidebook*, which is published by the National Council on Compensation Insurance. A copy of the publication may be obtained from ~~the National Council on Compensation Insurance, Products and Services Department,~~ *NCCI Holdings, Inc., Customer Service Center,*

901 Peninsula Corporate Circle, Boca Raton, Florida 33487, *or at the Internet address* <http://www.ncci.com>, *free of charge for affiliates or* for the price of ~~[\$120 for affiliates and \$155]~~ \$47 for nonaffiliates.

3. *Basic Manual for Workers Compensation and Employers Liability Insurance*, which is published by the National Council on Compensation Insurance. A copy of the publication may be obtained from ~~{the National Council on Compensation Insurance, Products and Services Department,}~~ *NCCI Holdings, Inc., Customer Service Center*, 901 Peninsula Corporate Circle, Boca Raton, Florida 33487, *or at the Internet address* <http://www.ncci.com>, for the price of ~~[\$108]~~ \$125 for affiliates and ~~[\$149]~~ \$250 for nonaffiliates.

4. *Forms Manual of Workers Compensation and Employers Liability Insurance*, which is published by the National Council on Compensation Insurance. A copy of the publication may be obtained from ~~{the National Council on Compensation Insurance, Products and Services Department,}~~ *NCCI Holdings, Inc., Customer Service Center*, 901 Peninsula Corporate Circle, Boca Raton, Florida 33487, *or at the Internet address* <http://www.ncci.com>, for the price of ~~[\$135]~~ \$160 for affiliates and ~~[\$271]~~ \$325 for nonaffiliates.

5. *Electronic Transmission User's Guide*, which is published by the National Council on Compensation Insurance. A copy of the publication may be obtained, free of charge, ~~{from the National Council on Compensation Insurance, Products and Services Department, 901 Peninsula Corporate Circle, Boca Raton, Florida 33487.}~~ *at the Internet address* <http://www.ncci.com>.

6. *WCIO Workers Compensation Data Specifications Manual*, which is ~~{published}~~ *maintained* by the ~~{National Council on Compensation Insurance.}~~ *Workers Compensation Insurance Organizations*. A copy of the publication may be obtained ~~{from the National Council on Compensation Insurance, Products and Services Department, 901 Peninsula Corporate Circle,~~

~~Boca Raton, Florida 33487, for the price of \$78.1~~, free of charge, at the Internet address <http://www.wcio.org>.

Sec. 3. Chapter 616C of NAC is hereby amended by adding thereto the provisions set forth as sections 4 to 7, inclusive, of this regulation.

Sec. 4. *As used in NRS 616C.065, the Administrator interprets:*

1. *The term “insurer” to include a third-party administrator.*
2. *The term “receipt” to mean a written acknowledgment from the United States Postal Service of its acceptance for mailing of a written determination by an insurer denying a claim in whole or in part.*

Sec. 5. 1. *If an insurer fails to respond to a written request for a determination within 30 days after the date on which the request for a determination was received by the insurer, the person making the request for a determination may resubmit the request.*

2. *Failure to file a request for a hearing within the period specified in subsection 3 of NRS 616C.315 does not preclude a person from submitting to an insurer a written request for a determination.*

Sec. 6. *If an insurer or third-party administrator receives a written notice from an employee or a dependent of an employee pursuant to subsection 1 of NRS 616C.409 which includes all the information required by the financial institution, the insurer or third-party administrator shall, within 60 days after receipt of the written notice:*

1. *Establish direct deposit of the compensation to be paid by the insurer or third-party administrator into the account specified by the employee or dependent of the employee in the written notice; or*

2. If the insurer or third-party administrator is unable to establish direct deposit of the compensation as required by subsection 1, provide to the employee or dependent of the employee a written explanation of the reason for which the insurer or third-party administrator is unable to establish direct deposit of the compensation as required by subsection 1.

Sec. 7. 1. Within 30 days after receipt from a treating physician of medical documentation satisfying the requirements of subsection 2 of NRS 616C.245, the insurer or employer providing accident benefits shall, as applicable pursuant to subsection 3 of NRS 616C.245, place an order for, purchase or modify a motor vehicle for the injured employee.

2. The insurer or employer providing accident benefits shall determine the make and model of the motor vehicle based on the medical requirements and physical restrictions of the injured employee as set forth by the treating physician. The insurer or employer shall modify the motor vehicle to accommodate the physical restrictions of the injured employee.

3. The insurer or employer providing accident benefits shall, as applicable, purchase or modify a motor vehicle for the injured employee as needed and at least as often as every 10 years or 120,000 miles driven, whichever occurs first.

4. An injured employee who receives a motor vehicle pursuant to this section and NRS 616C.245 shall at all times maintain a policy of insurance as required by NRS 485.185 which includes comprehensive and collision coverage for the motor vehicle. Risk of physical damage to or total loss of the motor vehicle is the responsibility of the injured employee. Care and maintenance of the motor vehicle is the responsibility of the injured employee.

5. If an injured employee is not entitled to receive a motor vehicle pursuant to this section and NRS 616C.245, the insurer or employer providing accident benefits shall:

- (a) Reimburse the injured employee in the manner prescribed by NAC 616C.150; or*
- (b) Provide transportation, where available, for the injured employee, including, without limitation, in the form of a monthly bus pass, public transportation or other appropriate means of transportation as determined by the insurer or employer, taking into consideration the medical requirements and physical restrictions of the injured employee.*

Sec. 8. NAC 616C.082 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.082 1. An insurer, third-party administrator or organization for managed care shall ensure that *the date of receipt of* all documents concerning claims that it receives pursuant to chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS or regulations adopted pursuant thereto ~~indicate the date of receipt.~~ *is indicated on each such document or maintained in an electronically generated, verifiable report.*

2. All claims filed with the insurer, third-party administrator or organization for managed care pursuant to subsection 1 and all documents concerning such claims must be ~~acted upon in the~~ *filed and maintained in* chronological order. ~~of their filings, insofar as possible.~~

3. All documents which constitute the record of a claim filed with the insurer, third-party administrator or organization for managed care pursuant to subsection 1, including *, without limitation,* investigative reports, medical reports, and records evidencing payments of benefits, compensation or awards, remain the property of the insurer.

Sec. 9. NAC 616C.088 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.088 1. ~~An insurer shall maintain a file of employees' claims concerning industrial injuries and occupational disease, including, without limitation, claims which have been denied. The file must be indexed by the names and social security numbers of the injured employees.~~

~~—2. The file for each~~ *Each file of a claim concerning an* industrial injury or occupational disease *that is maintained by an insurer or third-party administrator* must contain:

(a) The employer’s report of the industrial injury or occupational disease.

(b) The claim for compensation and any medical report associated with that claim that is issued after the claim is filed with the insurer.

(c) All:

(1) Applications for a stay concerning a decision on a claim for compensation made to a hearing officer, appeals officer or a court of competent jurisdiction;

(2) Written orders or decisions on a claim for compensation entered by a hearing officer, appeals officer or a court of competent jurisdiction;

(3) Written determinations made by an insurer, third-party administrator or an organization for managed care concerning a claim for compensation;

(4) Written settlement agreements or stipulations made between the injured employee and his or her employer or the insurer of the employer concerning a claim for compensation; and

(5) Except as otherwise provided in subparagraph (2) of paragraph (f), other documents which affect the amount, timing or denial of the payment of compensation.

↪ As used in this paragraph, “payment of compensation” has the meaning ascribed to it in subsection 2 of NAC 616D.305.

(d) A record of all compensation paid to the injured employee and all payments made to any other person in connection with the claim, for:

(1) Accident benefits;

(2) Temporary partial disability;

(3) Temporary total disability;

- (4) Permanent partial disability;
- (5) Permanent total disability;
- (6) Death benefits; and
- (7) Vocational rehabilitation,

↪ and the amount of the expected total incurred costs and the justification.

(e) A copy of any notice of termination of benefits which has been sent to the injured employee.

(f) Copies of all correspondence and other documents pertaining to the claim, including, without limitation, copies of:

(1) All medical bills incurred by the injured employee and received by the insurer; and

(2) Any notices sent to the injured employee to inform him or her of the right to a review or appeal,

↪ but not including records of any privileged communication between the insurer and its attorney or of any investigation conducted by or on behalf of the insurer concerning a possible violation of NRS 616D.300.

(g) All ratings performed by any physician or chiropractor.

(h) A summary of conversations or oral negotiations, or both, conducted by the insurer *or the third-party administrator* with the injured employee, the legal counsel who represents the injured employee or any other party other than the physician or chiropractor of the injured employee, if action is requested or taken.

(i) After the claim is closed, the log of oral communications relating to the medical disposition of a claim that must be maintained by an insurer *or third-party administrator* pursuant to NRS 616D.330.

~~13.1~~ 2. Each file of a claim must be retained for 2 years after the death of the injured employee.

Sec. 10. NAC 616C.091 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.091 1. After receipt of a claim for compensation, the insurer *or third-party administrator* shall give written notice of its determination to accept or deny the claim to the injured employee , *the attorney or other authorized representative of the injured employee* or his or her dependents and, if the injured employee's employer is not self-insured, to the injured employee's employer.

2. If the insurer *or third-party administrator* denies the claim ~~1~~:

~~1.1~~ *in whole or in part:*

(a) The insurer *or third-party administrator* shall, pursuant to NRS 616C.065, notify the Administrator of the denial.

~~12.1~~ (b) The notice of denial to the injured employee , *the attorney or other authorized representative of the injured employee* or his or her dependents must include:

~~1(a)~~ (1) A written statement of the right to request a hearing on the matter before a hearing officer and a form for requesting a hearing; and

~~1(b)~~ ~~The~~

(2) *A specific statement of the* reasons for the denial ~~1~~
~~3.1~~ *of the claim.*

(c) The insurer *or third-party administrator* shall provide a copy of each notice of denial it gives pursuant to ~~subsection 2~~ *paragraph (b)* to the injured employee's treating physician or chiropractor.

~~4.~~ (d) The notice of denial required to be given to the Administrator pursuant to ~~subsection~~
~~4~~ *paragraph (a)* must include:

~~(a)~~ (1) A copy of the notice of denial given to the injured employee , *the attorney or other authorized representative of the injured employee* or his or her dependents; and

~~(b)~~ (2) A copy of Form C-4, Employee's Claim for Compensation/Report of Initial Treatment, that was completed by the injured employee or his or her dependents.

~~5.— Each notice of denial must be given within the time prescribed in NRS 616C.065.~~

3. *If the insurer or third-party administrator accepts the claim, the notice of acceptance provided to the injured employee, the attorney or other authorized representative of the injured employee or his or her dependents must include:*

(a) Written notice of acceptance of the claim;

(b) A copy of Form D-52, Alternative Choice of Physician or Chiropractor; and

(c) Either:

(1) If established and available, the Internet address of the website of the insurer or third-party administrator at which the injured employee, the attorney or other authorized representative of the injured employee or his or her dependents can obtain a list of providers of health care who are authorized to provide health care services to the injured employee; or

(2) Notification that, pursuant to NAC 616C.030, the injured employee, the attorney or other authorized representative of the injured employee, his or her dependents or the treating physician or chiropractor of the injured employee may, upon written request, obtain a list of providers of health care who are authorized to provide health care services to the injured employee.

- 4. A written notice of determination issued by an insurer or third-party administrator must include:*
- (a) The claim number;*
 - (b) The name of the employer;*
 - (c) The name of the insurer;*
 - (d) The name of the third-party administrator, if applicable;*
 - (e) The date of the injury;*
 - (f) The date of the written notice of determination;*
 - (g) Notice that the injured employee may, pursuant to subsection 1 or 3 of NRS 616C.315, request a hearing or appeal the determination within 70 days after the determination is issued by the insurer; and*
 - (h) The addresses of the offices of the Hearings Division of the Department of Administration located in Carson City and Las Vegas.*

Sec. 11. NAC 616C.094 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.094 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section, within 30 days after receipt of a written request relating to a claim made by:

(a) An injured employee, an employer, a health care provider or the attorney or other representative of any of them; or

(b) A spouse, child or parent of an injured employee who is deceased or incapacitated,
↳ the insurer, third-party administrator or organization for managed care shall, in writing, notify the person making the request of its determination concerning the request.

2. If the insurer, third-party administrator or organization for managed care terminates or denies any benefit in response to a written request, it shall notify the person making the request,

the injured employee and the attorney or authorized representative of the injured employee, in writing, giving the reasons for its determination and an explanation of the ~~{person's}~~ right *of the person making the request* to appeal ~~{}~~ *the determination*.

3. If the insurer or third-party administrator denies a written request to reopen a claim, it shall notify the person making the request , ~~{and}~~ the employer of that person ~~{}~~ *and the injured employee or the attorney or authorized representative of the injured employee*, in writing, specifying the reasons for its determination and an explanation of the person's right to appeal.

Sec. 12. NAC 616C.097 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.097 1. Any written notice of a determination ~~{of an insurer who has contracted with}~~ *by* an organization for managed care that relates to accident benefits must include at the bottom of the notice a statement in substantially the following form:

If you disagree with the above determination, sign, date, and briefly explain on the bottom of this notice the reason for your appeal and return this notice to ~~{your insurer within 70}~~ *the organization for managed care at the address indicated within 14* days after the date on which ~~{the}~~ *this* notice was mailed by the ~~{insurer.}~~ *organization for managed care*.

2. Any written notice of a determination ~~{of}~~ *by* an insurer *or third-party administrator* that relates to benefits, other than accident benefits , ~~{provided by an insurer who has contracted with an organization for managed care.}~~ must include at the bottom of the notice a statement in substantially the following form:

If you disagree with the above determination, sign, date, and briefly explain on the bottom of this notice the reason for your appeal and return it to the Hearing Officer at the Department of Administration within 70 days after the date on which the notice was mailed by the insurer ~~H~~ *or third-party administrator*.

Sec. 13. NAC 616C.123 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.123 1. The most recently published edition of or update to the *Occupational Medicine Practice Guidelines* ~~published jointly by~~ *of the* the American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine ~~and the Occupational Environmental Medicine Health Information, Inc.,~~ is hereby adopted by reference as standards for the provision of accident benefits to employees who have suffered industrial injuries or occupational diseases.

2. The Administrator will, on or before February 1 of each year, review the most recently published edition of or update to the ~~Occupational Medicine Practice~~ *Guidelines*. Each new edition of or update to the ~~Occupational Medicine Practice~~ *Guidelines* shall be deemed approved by the Administrator for use in this State on February 1 of each year, unless a notice of disapproval of the edition or update is posted pursuant to this subsection by the immediately preceding April 1. If the Administrator wishes to disapprove a new edition of or update to the ~~Occupational Medicine Practice~~ *Guidelines*, the Administrator will:

(a) Post a notice of disapproval at the largest public library in each county, the State Library and Archives, the Grant Sawyer Office Building located at 555 East Washington Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada, and all offices of the Division; and

(b) Send a notice to each person included on the mailing list that the Division is required to maintain pursuant to paragraph (e) of subsection 1 of NRS 233B.0603.

↪ If the Administrator disapproves an edition of or update to the ~~Occupational Medicine Practice~~ *Guidelines*, the edition or update that was most recently adopted by reference or deemed approved pursuant to this section will continue in effect.

3. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, insurers and providers of health care shall use the *Guidelines* as minimum standards for evaluating and ensuring the quality of programs of treatment provided to an injured employee who is entitled to accident benefits pursuant to chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS. If a condition of the injured employee makes compliance with the *Guidelines* impossible, ~~or~~ medically inadvisable ~~and~~ *or not recommended by* a physician or chiropractor who:

(a) Is employed by or works pursuant to a contract with the insurer or its third-party administrator or organization for managed care to provide medical advice on claims;

(b) Is licensed to practice in this State;

(c) Possesses the education, training and expertise necessary to evaluate the medical condition of the injured employee or obtains the advice or assistance necessary to evaluate the medical condition of the employee; ~~and~~

(d) Has reviewed the notes of the treating physician or chiropractor, the results of any tests conducted by the treating physician or chiropractor and any relevant health care records of the injured employee ~~;~~

↪ ~~recommends~~ ; *and*

(e) *Recommends* to the insurer not to authorize treatment pursuant to the *Guidelines*,

↪ the insurer may determine not to authorize treatment pursuant to the *Guidelines*.

4. An insurer may authorize treatment for an injured employee that exceeds the minimum standards of the *Guidelines* if the provider of health care provides, in writing, to the insurer the explanation for the need of a higher standard of treatment.

5. A copy of the *Guidelines* may be purchased from *the American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* ~~{Health Information, Inc., at 8 West Street, Beverly Farms, Massachusetts 01915-2226, or}~~ , *25 Northwest Point Boulevard, Suite 700, Elk Grove Village, Illinois 60007-1060*, by telephone at ~~{(800)-533-8046,}~~ *(847) 818-1800 or at the Internet address <http://www.acoem.org/practiceguidelines.aspx>*, at a cost of \$175 for persons who are members of the American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine and \$199 for persons who are not members of the American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine.

6. As used in this section, the term “*Guidelines*” means the *Occupational Medicine Practice Guidelines* adopted by reference pursuant to subsection 1.

Sec. 14. NAC 616C.129 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.129 The members of the panel of physicians and chiropractors, approved for treatment of employees protected by workers’ compensation, shall adhere to the following rules:

1. There may be only one treating physician or chiropractor in any one case at any one time, unless prior authorization is obtained from the insurer. Physicians and chiropractors associated with the treating physician or chiropractor may treat the injured employee during the temporary absence of the treating physician or chiropractor. In all cases, the treating physician or chiropractor is directly responsible for the management of the health care of the injured employee. Physicians in emergency rooms are not considered treating physicians within the meaning of NAC 616C.126 to 616C.141, inclusive.

2. The insurer shall give written notice to all interested persons of the transfer of an injured employee to a new physician or chiropractor ~~H~~, *which must include notice to the injured employee or the attorney or authorized representative of the injured employee of the right to appeal the transfer.*

3. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, an injured employee or an insurer is not financially liable for the payment of the fees of a provider of health care who renders treatment to an injured employee for an industrial accident or occupational disease, knowing that the injured employee is already under the care of another provider of health care. The insurer may be liable for the payment of the fees pursuant to this subsection if the insurer gives prior written approval for the treatment or good cause is shown for the treatment provided.

4. Any prescription or service ordered by a physician or chiropractor other than:

(a) The treating physician or chiropractor; or

(b) A physician or chiropractor associated with the treating physician or chiropractor who is treating the injured employee during the temporary absence of the treating physician or chiropractor,

↪ is not a financial liability of the insurer unless good cause is shown for the prescription or service.

5. The treating physician or chiropractor must request written authorization from the insurer before ordering or performing any one of the following services with an estimated billed amount of \$200 or more:

(a) Consultation;

(b) Diagnostic testing;

(c) Elective hospitalization;

- (d) Any surgery which is to be performed under circumstances other than an emergency; or
- (e) Any elective procedure.

6. Any request for prior authorization to order or perform any of the services set forth in subsection 5 must contain an explanation of the need for each service to be ordered or performed. If any of the services are performed without the insurer's written authorization, the insurer is not liable for the fee for the service, unless good cause is shown for providing the services without prior authorization.

7. A treatment program that consists of more than six visits, not including the initial evaluation, and is billed under codes 97010 to 97799, inclusive, or 98925 to 98943, inclusive, whether the visits are billed separately or included under different codes, must be authorized in advance by the insurer to verify the medical necessity for continued treatment. The first six visits do not require the prior authorization of the insurer. The number of requests for additional visits *by the treating physician or chiropractor* and any written authorization granted therefor are not restricted, and are subject only to the treatment prescribed by the treating physician or chiropractor and the determination of the insurer. A report of the status of an injured employee may be requested by an insurer at any time during the course of treatment. The initial evaluation shall be deemed to be separate from the initial six treatments. An initial evaluation may be performed on the same day as the initial treatment.

8. The treating physician or chiropractor shall respond in writing to an insurer's written request for a report of the status of an injured employee not later than 10 business days after receiving the request.

Sec. 15. NAC 616C.145 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.145 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section, providers of health care who treat injured employees pursuant to this chapter and chapter 616C of NRS shall comply with the most recently published edition of or update to the *Relative Values for Physicians*, which the Division hereby adopts by reference.

2. The Administrator will, on or before February 1 of each year, review the most recently published edition of or update to the *Relative Values for Physicians*. Each new edition of or update to the *Relative Values for Physicians* shall be deemed approved by the Division for use in this State from February 1 through January 31, unless a notice of disapproval of the edition or update is posted pursuant to this subsection by the immediately preceding February 1. If the Administrator wishes to disapprove a new edition of or update to the *Relative Values for Physicians*, the Administrator will:

(a) Post a notice of disapproval at the largest public library in each county, the State Library and Archives, the Grant Sawyer Office Building located at 555 East Washington Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada, and all offices of the Division; and

(b) Send a notice to each person included on the mailing list that the Division is required to maintain pursuant to paragraph (e) of subsection 1 of NRS 233B.0603.

↪ If the Administrator disapproves an edition of or update to the *Relative Values for Physicians* the edition or update that was most recently adopted by reference or deemed approved pursuant to this section will continue in effect.

3. A copy of *Relative Values for Physicians*, as adopted by reference pursuant to subsection 1, may be purchased from ~~Hengenix, 5225 Wiley Post Way, Suite 500, Salt Lake City, Utah 84116-2889, (800) 999-4600~~ **OptumInsight, 2525 Lake Park Boulevard, Salt Lake City, Utah**

84120, by telephone at (800) 464-3649 or at the Internet address <http://www.optumcoding.com>,

for the price of ~~1\$279.95.1~~ \$329.95.

Sec. 16. NAC 616C.146 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.146 1. Anesthesiologists who treat injured employees pursuant to this chapter and chapter 616C of NRS shall comply with the most recently published edition of or update to the *Relative Value Guide* of the American Society of Anesthesiologists, which the Division hereby adopts by reference.

2. The Administrator will, on or before February 1 of each year, review the most recently published edition of or update to the *Relative Value Guide* of the American Society of Anesthesiologists. Each new edition of or update to the *Relative Value Guide* of the American Society of Anesthesiologists shall be deemed approved by the Division for use in this State on February 1 of each year, unless a notice of disapproval of the edition or update is posted pursuant to this subsection by the immediately preceding February 1. If the Administrator wishes to disapprove a new edition of or update to the *Relative Value Guide* of the American Society of Anesthesiologists, ~~he or she~~ *the Administrator* will:

(a) Post a notice of disapproval at the largest public library in each county, the State Library and Archives, the Grant Sawyer Office Building located at 555 East Washington Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada, and all offices of the Division; and

(b) Send a notice to each person included on the mailing list that the Division is required to maintain pursuant to paragraph (e) of subsection 1 of NRS 233B.0603.

↪ If the Administrator disapproves an edition of or update to the *Relative Value Guide* of the American Society of Anesthesiologists, the edition or update that was most recently adopted by reference or deemed approved pursuant to this section will continue in effect.

3. A copy of the *Relative Value Guide* of the American Society of Anesthesiologists, as adopted by reference pursuant to subsection 1, may be purchased from the American Society of Anesthesiologists, ~~{520 N. Northwest Highway, Park Ridge, Illinois 60068-2573,}~~ **1061 American Lane, Schaumburg, Illinois 60173-4973, by telephone at (847) 825-5586, or at the Internet address <http://ecommerce.asahq.org/>**, for the price of \$25 ~~{}~~ **for members and \$75 for nonmembers.**

4. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, an anesthesiologist shall use the codes that are stated in the *Relative Value Guide* of the American Society of Anesthesiologists for each procedure which he or she bills and submits to an insurer. If a code for a procedure performed by an anesthesiologist is not provided in the *Guide*, the anesthesiologist shall use the code provided for that procedure in the *Relative Values for Physicians*, as adopted by reference pursuant to NAC 616C.145, using the appropriate conversion factor for the code that is assigned to that procedure.

Sec. 17. NAC 616C.147 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.147 The Division hereby adopts by reference ~~{the most current complete}~~ :

1. The 2007 list of eligible codes for **ambulatory** surgical centers ~~{for ambulatory patients}~~ and the payment groups to which those codes are assigned ~~{for services rendered on and after September 7, 2005, as those codes are}~~ **as** set forth in the “Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services ~~{, CMS}~~ ”; **and**

2. The codes set forth in the “Healthcare Common ~~{Procedures}~~ Procedure Coding System (HCPCS),” ~~{which is contained}~~ **as set forth in the *Relative Values for Physicians* ~~{that is}~~ adopted by reference pursuant to NAC 616C.145.**

Sec. 18. NAC 616C.148 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.148 Unless good cause is shown:

1. A rating physician or chiropractor shall mail a report of an evaluation of an injured employee to the insurer within 14 days after the evaluation is completed. Unless good cause is shown, if an addendum is requested by the insurer, the rating physician or chiropractor shall mail the addendum to the insurer within 14 days after receiving the request.

2. If a rating evaluation is requested by an injured employee or a representative thereof, the rating physician or chiropractor shall mail a report of the evaluation to the injured employee or a representative within 14 days after the evaluation is completed. Unless good cause is shown, if an addendum is requested by the injured employee or a representative, the rating physician or chiropractor shall mail the addendum to the injured employee or a representative within 14 days after receiving the request.

3. A report of a rating evaluation performed by a rating physician or chiropractor must include:

(a) All the findings of the physical examination; and

(b) References to each table of the American Medical Association's Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment used by the rating physician or chiropractor to determine the permanent impairment of the injured employee.

4. A rating physician or chiropractor shall retain at least one copy of each report of a rating evaluation and all supporting documentation of the rating physician or chiropractor for a period of not less than 5 years after the date on which the rating evaluation referenced in the report of rating evaluation is performed.

Sec. 19. NAC 616C.149 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.149 1. Each provider of health care and each medical facility shall submit a bill to the insurer which includes:

- (a) The usual charge for services provided;
- (b) The code for the procedure and a description of the services;
- (c) The number of visits and date of each visit to the office of the provider of health care or to the medical facility and the procedures followed in any treatment administered during the visit;
- (d) The codes for supplies and materials provided or administered to the injured employee that are set forth in the ~~“Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, CMS”~~ **“Healthcare Common ~~Procedures~~ Procedure** Coding System (HCPCS),” as contained in the *Relative Values for Physicians ~~;~~ as* adopted by reference pursuant to NAC 616C.145;
- (e) The name of the injured employee and his or her employer and the date of the injury;
- (f) The tax identification number of the provider of health care; and
- (g) The signature of the person who provided the service.

2. In addition to the information required by subsection 1, each physician or chiropractor and each medical facility shall include on the bill the ~~ICD-9-CM~~ **ICD-CM** codes identifying the parts of the body of the injured employee that were affected by the injury, as set forth in the most recently published edition of or update to the *International Classification of Diseases, Clinical Modification ~~ICD-9-CM~~* **(ICD-CM)**, which is hereby adopted by reference.

3. The Administrator will, on or before February 1 of each year, review the most recently published edition of or update to the *International Classification of Diseases*. Each new edition of or update to the *International Classification of Diseases* shall be deemed approved by the Administrator for use in this State on February 1 of each year, unless a notice of disapproval of the edition or update is posted pursuant to this subsection by the immediately preceding April 1.

If the Administrator wishes to disapprove a new edition of or update to the *International Classification of Diseases*, the Administrator will:

(a) Post a notice of disapproval at the largest public library in each county, the State Library and Archives, the Grant Sawyer Office Building located at 555 East Washington Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada, and all offices of the Division; and

(b) Send a notice to each person included on the mailing list that the Division is required to maintain pursuant to paragraph (e) of subsection 1 of NRS 233B.0603.

↪ If the Administrator disapproves an edition of or update to the *International Classification of Diseases*, the edition or update that was most recently adopted by reference or deemed approved pursuant to this section will continue in effect.

4. A copy of ~~Volumes 1, 2 and 3 of this publication may be purchased from:~~
~~(a) Channel Publishing, Ltd., P.O. Box 70723, Reno, Nevada 89570, (800) 248-2882, for the price of \$64.95; or~~
~~(b) Ingenix, 5225 Wiley Post Way, Suite 500, Salt Lake City, Utah 84116-2889, (800) 999-4600, for the price of \$74.95.]~~ *The International Classification of Diseases is available, free of charge, from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention at the Internet address <http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/icd.htm>.*

5. The initial bill submitted to the insurer by a licensed physical therapist or a licensed occupational therapist must be accompanied by a copy of the order for the services rendered, issued by the treating physician or chiropractor. Any subsequent bill submitted to the insurer by a licensed physical therapist or a licensed occupational therapist must include a copy of the order for the services rendered ~~issued by the treating physician or chiropractor~~ if the order ~~for services rendered~~ is changed by the treating physician or chiropractor.

Sec. 20. NAC 616C.555 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616C.555 An insurer shall ensure that ~~the~~ :

1. The vocational rehabilitation counselor assigned to a claim by the insurer complies with the provisions of ~~subsections 1, 2 and 3~~ subsection 2 of NRS ~~616C.550~~ 616C.547, the provisions of subsections 1 to 8, inclusive, of NRS 616C.555 and the provisions of NAC 616C.556 ~~H~~ ;

2. The written assessment developed pursuant to NRS 616C.550 includes the document containing the information described in subsection 2 of NAC 616C.556; and

3. The plan for a program of vocational rehabilitation developed pursuant to NRS 616C.555 complies with the provisions of that section.

Sec. 21. NAC 616D.060 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616D.060 If, after a hearing, the Administrator decides that the insurer, third-party administrator, organization for managed care, provider of health care , *employee leasing company* or employer has committed the alleged violation, the Administrator will:

1. Prepare written findings of fact and conclusions of law;
2. Give notice of the right to file a petition for judicial review within 30 days after service of the decision; and
3. ~~Cause a copy of the findings of fact and conclusions of law to be served~~ *Serve* upon the insurer, third-party administrator, organization for managed care, provider of health care , *employee leasing company* or employer by ~~certified mail.~~ *mail a copy of the findings of fact and conclusions of law.*

Sec. 22. NAC 616D.415 is hereby amended to read as follows:

616D.415 Except as otherwise provided in chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS, or in any regulation adopted pursuant thereto:

1. If the Administrator determines that:

(a) An insurer or third-party administrator has failed to comply or has complied in an untimely manner with any provision of chapter 616A, 616B, 616C, 616D or 617 of NRS, or any regulation adopted pursuant thereto, that requires the insurer or third-party administrator to make a determination regarding the acceptance or denial of a claim for compensation;

(b) An insurer or third-party administrator has failed to comply or has complied in an untimely manner with any provision of chapter 616A, 616B, 616C, 616D or 617 of NRS, or any regulation adopted pursuant thereto, that requires the insurer or third-party administrator to make a payment of benefits to an injured employee;

(c) An insurer or employer has failed to comply or has complied in an untimely manner with any of the provisions of NRS 616B.460 or 616B.461 or NAC 616B.124 to 616B.136, inclusive;

(d) An insurer, organization for managed care, provider of health care, third-party administrator, employer or employee leasing company has failed to comply or has complied in an untimely manner with any of the provisions of NRS 616A.475, 616B.006, 616B.009 , ***616C.700*** or 617.357 or NAC 616A.410 ~~§~~ ***or 616C.527 or paragraph (b) of subsection 1 of section 1 of this regulation;***

(e) A treating physician or chiropractor has failed to comply or has complied in an untimely manner with any of the provisions of NRS 616C.020 ~~§~~ ***or 616C.040***, subsection 7 of NRS 616C.475 or NRS 617.352, or any regulations adopted pursuant thereto, that require the treating physician or chiropractor to complete a claim for compensation; or

(f) An employer has failed to comply or has complied in an untimely manner with any of the provisions of NRS 616C.045 or 617.354, or any regulation adopted pursuant thereto, that require the employer to complete a report of industrial injury or occupational disease,
↪ and the Administrator determines that the violation was not an intentional violation, the Administrator may impose an administrative fine in an amount not to exceed those amounts set forth in subsection 2 of NRS 616D.120 or order a plan of corrective action to be submitted to the Administrator, or both.

2. If the Administrator determines that an insurer, organization for managed care, health care provider, third-party administrator, employer or employee leasing company has committed two or more violations of the same or similar provisions of chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS, or any regulation adopted pursuant thereto, the Administrator may impose an administrative fine in an amount not to exceed those amounts set forth in subsection 2 of NRS 616D.120 or order a plan of corrective action to be submitted to the Administrator, or both.

Sec. 23. NAC 617.070 is hereby amended to read as follows:

617.070 1. Cardiac examinations which are conducted pursuant to NRS 617.457 must include at least the following elements and must be supported by the following written material:

(a) Form OD-1, Firemen and Police Officers' Medical History Form, as prescribed by the Division and completed by the firefighter or police officer being examined;

(b) Form OD-3, Firemen and Police Officers' Extensive Heart Examination Form, as prescribed by the Division and completed by the examining physician;

(c) A stethoscopic examination of the heart;

(d) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (e), an electrocardiogram;

(e) If the person being examined is a police officer or a salaried firefighter who is 40 years of age or older, a stress electrocardiogram, in lieu of the electrocardiogram required by paragraph (d);

(f) A blood test to determine the amounts of triglycerides and cholesterol which are present; and

(g) A *blood or* urine test to determine the amount of glucose which is present.

2. Cardiac examinations which are conducted in the sixth year of continuous service and in each year of service thereafter must include the following elements and must be supported by the following written material:

(a) Form OD-1, Firemen and Police Officers' Medical History Form, as prescribed by the Division and completed by the firefighter or police officer being examined;

(b) Form OD-4, Firemen and Police Officers' Limited Heart Examination Form, as prescribed by the Division and completed by the examining physician;

(c) A stethoscopic examination of the heart; and

(d) If the examining physician believes circumstances warrant such a test, an electrocardiogram.

Sec. 24. NAC 617.080 is hereby amended to read as follows:

617.080 ~~The~~

1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, the employer shall:

~~H~~ (a) Schedule the physical examinations, including the test of the functioning of the hearing of an employee, that are required pursuant to NRS 617.454, 617.455 and 617.457.

~~{2.}~~ (b) Maintain the records of all physical examinations, including the test of the functioning of the hearing of an employee, that are completed pursuant to NRS 617.454, 617.455 and 617.457 for at least 2 years after the death of the firefighter or police officer.

~~{3.}~~ (c) Discuss with the employee any warning from the examining physician indicating that the employee has a predisposition to the contraction of a disease of the heart or lungs.

~~{4.}~~ (d) If the employee can correct any predisposing physical condition of which he or she has been warned pursuant to ~~{subsection 3.}~~ *paragraph (c)*, inform the employee that failure to correct the condition may exclude him or her from benefits under chapter 617 of NRS.

~~{5.}~~ (e) Pay for any additional physical examinations he or she requires which are beyond the scope of the physical examinations and tests required by NRS 617.454, 617.455 and 617.457.

2. If the employer and employee agree in writing, the employee may assume the responsibility for scheduling the physical examinations described in paragraph (a) of subsection 1.

Sec. 25. NAC 616A.430, 616B.780, 616B.786, 616B.789, 616B.792, 616B.795, 616B.796, 616B.800, 616B.809, 616B.810, 616B.812, 616B.815, 616B.818 and 616C.085 are hereby repealed.

TEXT OF REPEALED SECTIONS

616A.430 Clarification of certain provisions or relief from strict application. (NRS 616A.400)

A brief explanation of the procedure for obtaining clarification of NAC 616A.420, 616C.091, 616C.094, 616C.145 to 616C.149, inclusive, 616C.423, 616C.447 or 616C.502, or relief from the strict application of any of their terms, may be obtained from the Division of Industrial Relations, 400 West King Street, Suite 400, Carson City, Nevada 89703.

616B.780 Establishment of employer-employee relationship; liability of principal contractor for premiums. (NRS 616A.400)

1. An employer who hires a person to do work related to, or in furtherance of, his or her business operations that are insured by a private carrier is presumed to have established an employer-employee relationship between himself or herself and the person performing the work in the absence of a written contract between the two parties which establishes that no employer-employee relationship exists between the two parties, in accordance with chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS.

2. If a subcontractor or independent contractor does not have an active policy with a private carrier, the principal contractor must be assessed premiums based on:

- (a) The payroll for the period of the contract with the subcontractor or independent contractor;
- (b) The appropriate classification for the work performed by the subcontractor or independent contractor; and
- (c) The experience modification factor of the principal contractor.

3. A principal contractor may provide the complete payroll records of the employees of each uninsured subcontractor and independent contractor. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, if the principal contractor does not provide the complete payroll records of the uninsured subcontractors and independent contractors, the full contract price shall be deemed to be the payroll for the employees of the subcontractors and independent contractors. If the contract is for labor and materials or labor and equipment and evidence is provided to the private carrier which indicates the portion of the contract price that is for labor, that amount may be deemed the payroll for the employees of the subcontractor or independent contractor. If such an amount is not indicated in the contract, the private carrier shall determine what portion of the contract price will be deemed the payroll for the employees of the subcontractor or independent contractor. In no case may the payroll used to calculate the premiums of the principal contractor be less than the portion of the contract price that is for labor.

4. If a subcontractor or independent contractor has a policy with a private carrier but fails to pay the proper premiums, the principal contractor is liable for the amount of any unpaid premiums based on the rate and modification factor for premiums of the subcontractor or independent contractor.

616B.786 Coverage of sole proprietor acting as subcontractor or principal contractor.
(NRS 616A.400)

1. A sole proprietor acting as a subcontractor in this State who is licensed pursuant to chapter 624 of NRS shall be deemed to receive \$500 per month in wages. A sole proprietor acting in alternating roles as a principal contractor and subcontractor shall be deemed to receive \$500 per month in wages. The type of license issued to the sole proprietor pursuant to chapter 624 of NRS does not affect the coverage or deemed wage required.

2. A sole proprietor acting only as a principal contractor may be relieved of the requirement of maintaining coverage for himself or herself by submitting written notice to the private carrier which insures him or her that he or she is acting only as a principal contractor. If the private carrier determines that the sole proprietor is acting only as a principal contractor, the private carrier shall terminate his or her deemed wage effective on the date of receipt of the written notice. The termination of the deemed wage must not be made retroactive to a date before receipt of the written notice by the private carrier. If, after the termination of the deemed wage, the private carrier determines that the sole proprietor was at any time acting as a subcontractor, the private carrier shall reinstate the deemed wage effective on the date on which it was terminated, but in no case may it be made retroactive for more than 3 years or to the date of the last audit, whichever is more recent. If a sole proprietor who was determined to be acting only as a principal contractor at the inception of his or her policy with a private carrier acts at any time thereafter as a subcontractor or in alternating roles as a principal contractor and subcontractor, his or her deemed wage becomes effective on the date of his or her first subcontract, but in no case may it be made retroactive for more than 3 years or to the date of the last audit, whichever is more recent.

3. If a sole proprietor acting as a subcontractor provides coverage for his or her employees but fails to secure and maintain coverage for himself or herself, the principal contractor is responsible for the payment of premiums for the sole proprietor during the term of the contract.

616B.789 Use of wages in determining premium and disability compensation; liability of principal contractor for premiums. (NRS 616A.400)

1. For the purposes of determining premium and disability compensation, the wage of a sole proprietor who is not licensed pursuant to chapter 624 of NRS, has not elected coverage under the elective provisions of chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS and is performing as a subcontractor to an insured principal contractor shall be deemed to be \$300 per month or \$10 per day for the period of the subcontract, unless the contract specifies a wage greater than \$300 per month or \$10 per day for the sole proprietor.

2. For the purposes of determining premium and disability compensation, the wage of a sole proprietor who is licensed pursuant to chapter 624 of NRS but who has failed to open or maintain an account in good standing and who is performing as a subcontractor to an insured principal contractor shall be deemed to be \$500 per month or \$17 per day for the period of the subcontract unless the contract specifies a wage greater than \$500 per month or \$17 per day for the sole proprietor.

3. For the purposes of determining the premium required to be paid by the principal contractor and disability compensation, the wages of an employee of a sole proprietor who is a subcontractor and has not obtained coverage for his or her employees must be the actual wages paid, if the payroll records are provided to the private carrier. In the absence of complete payroll records, subsection 3 of NAC 616B.780 applies.

4. The principal contractor is liable for the amount of any premiums payable as a result of the application of subsections 1, 2 and 3. The premium payable must be based on the classifications and rates that would be applicable to the subcontractor and the experience modification factor which would be applicable to the principal contractor.

**616B.792 Coverage of sole proprietor seeking to obtain or fulfill contract with State.
(NRS 616A.400)**

1. A sole proprietor who is not licensed pursuant to chapter 624 of NRS, but who is required by statute to provide industrial insurance for himself or herself to obtain, fulfill or both obtain and fulfill a contract to furnish service to the State, will be provided coverage during the term of the contract at the rate provided in the manual at the deemed wage of \$300 per month.

2. If a sole proprietor who is licensed pursuant to chapter 624 of NRS accepts a state contract, coverage will be provided at the deemed wage of \$500 per month whether or not the license is material to the state contract. Coverage will be provided during the term of the contract or as long as the sole proprietor is licensed at the rate provided in the manual for licensed sole proprietors.

616B.795 Coverage of corporate officers. (NRS 616A.400)

A private carrier shall provide coverage to an officer of a corporation if the corporation is required to be insured pursuant to NRS 616B.624 or has elected to be insured pursuant to chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS, including, without limitation:

1. An officer of a corporation under subchapter S of the Internal Revenue Code, who is regularly employed by the corporation in the State of Nevada, or who is from a nonreciprocating state working temporarily in the State of Nevada, based upon the amounts deemed to be paid to him or her pursuant to chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS, or based on the actual amount

paid to him or her as shown on the records of payroll maintained by the corporation, but excluding any dividends paid to him or her; and

2. An officer of a corporation who may be excluded pursuant to NRS 616A.110, but is required to be insured pursuant to NRS 616B.624, or elects to be insured pursuant to chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS.

616B.796 Certain provisions not applicable to coverage of corporate officer. (NRS 616A.110, 616A.400, 616B.624)

The Administrator will not interpret the provisions of NRS 616A.110 as affecting the requirements for the coverage of a corporate officer set forth in NRS 616B.624.

616B.800 Coverage for excluded employees. (NRS 616A.400, 616B.656)

1. If an employer elects to cover an employee who is excluded from the benefits of chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS pursuant to NRS 616A.110 or if the employer subsequently wishes to withdraw such an election, the written statement or notice that the employer is required to provide pursuant to subsection 2 of NRS 616B.656 to his or her insurer and the Administrator must be served personally or sent by first-class mail on a completed form entitled “D-44, Election of Coverage by Employer and Employer Withdrawal of Election of Coverage,” which is prescribed by the Administrator, or, if sent by electronic transmission, the notice must contain the same information as the form. The notice must be provided within 30 days after the effective date of the election or withdrawal. The employer is not required to serve the notice on the Administrator if notice is served on the Administrator by the insurer on behalf of the employer.

2. If an employee that is excluded from the benefits of chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS pursuant to NRS 616A.110 rejects coverage elected by his or her employer pursuant to NRS 616B.656 or if the employee subsequently elects to waive such a rejection, the written

notice that the employee must provide to the employer, the insurer of the employer and the Administrator pursuant to subsection 3 of NRS 616B.656 must be served personally or sent by first-class mail on a completed form entitled “D-43, Employee’s Election to Reject Coverage and Election to Waive the Rejection of Coverage for Excluded Persons,” which is prescribed by the Administrator, or, if sent by electronic transmission, the notice must contain the same information as the form. The notice must be provided within 30 days after the effective date of the election or rejection. The employee is not required to serve the notice on the Administrator if notice is served on the Administrator by the insurer on behalf of the employee.

616B.809 Elected coverage for sole proprietors. (NRS 616A.400, 616B.659)

1. If a sole proprietor elects to purchase industrial insurance pursuant to chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS or elects to pay an additional amount of premium for additional coverage or subsequently wishes to withdraw an election for coverage, the written notice that the sole proprietor is required to provide to the private carrier and the Administrator pursuant to NRS 616B.659 must be served personally or sent by first-class mail on a completed form entitled “D-45, Sole Proprietor Coverage,” which is prescribed by the Administrator, or, if sent by electronic transmission, the notice must contain the same information as the form. The notice must be served within 30 days after the effective date of the election or withdrawal and must be accompanied by a report of any physical examinations prescribed by the private carrier. The sole proprietor is not required to serve the notice on the Administrator if notice is served on the Administrator by the private carrier on behalf of the sole proprietor.

2. A sole proprietor for whom coverage is elective pursuant to NRS 616A.220, who meets the qualifications for elective coverage pursuant to that section and who is not otherwise required

to maintain coverage pursuant to chapters 616A to 616D, inclusive, or chapter 617 of NRS, must comply with the requirements set forth in NAC 616B.810.

3. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 4, for the purposes of determining premium and disability compensation, a sole proprietor who applies for coverage pursuant to NRS 616B.659 will be provided coverage at the rate provided in the manual at the deemed wage of \$300 per month or, if additional premiums are received for additional coverage, at the deemed wage of \$1,800 per month. A sole proprietor who:

(a) Files notice with a private carrier, pursuant to NRS 616B.659, of his or her election to pay for additional coverage; and

(b) Sustains an injury within the 90-day period provided by subsection 6 of NRS 616B.659, ↪ will be provided coverage at the deemed wage of \$300 per month, notwithstanding the election to pay for additional coverage.

4. The private carrier may increase the monthly premium payable pursuant to subsection 3 based on the results of the physical examination prescribed by the private carrier.

**616B.810 Elected coverage for real estate broker, broker-salesperson or salesperson.
(NRS 616A.220, 616A.400)**

1. A person who is licensed pursuant to chapter 645 of NRS as a real estate broker, broker-salesperson or salesperson and who is not otherwise required to maintain coverage pursuant to chapters 616A to 617, inclusive, of NRS may elect coverage pursuant to NRS 616A.220 by submitting to a private carrier:

(a) An original application for industrial insurance; or

(b) A separate election form or a letter signed by the licensee.

2. A licensee who elects coverage pursuant to NRS 616A.220 will be assigned a classification based on his or her occupation as a licensed real estate broker, broker-salesperson or salesperson at the deemed wage of \$1,500 per month.

616B.812 Application for coverage of volunteers. (NRS 616A.400, 616B.656)

1. An employer who applies for coverage of volunteers must have an active account with a private carrier unless he or she is a self-insured employer or a member of an association.

2. A self-insured employer or member of an association who has elected to cover volunteers must report that election to the Administrator.

3. An employer's application for coverage of volunteers, whether or not the employer is self-insured, must contain:

(a) An identification of the formal program which the employer is sponsoring and which is manned by volunteers.

(b) The types of work being performed by the volunteers.

(c) The beginning and, if known, the ending dates of the formal program.

(d) The average number of volunteers who will be active in the program each month.

(e) The employer's agreement to maintain, as a part of the official records, a roster of active volunteers and to present the roster for audit by the payroll auditors of the private carrier.

(f) The location of the roster of active volunteers.

(g) The name of the person responsible for maintenance of the roster.

(h) The name and telephone number of a person who may be asked for information regarding the volunteers.

(i) The person in the employer's organization who is authorized to sign reports of injury when volunteers are involved.

616B.815 Coverage for volunteers: Effective date; classifications; payroll to be reported. (NRS 616A.400, 616B.656)

1. Elective coverage of volunteers becomes effective on the date on which the employer's application for such coverage is approved and accepted:

(a) In the case of an employer who is not self-insured or a member of an association, by a private carrier.

(b) In the case of a self-insured employer or a member of an association, by the Administrator.

2. The private carrier shall, in the case of a sponsoring employer insured by it, assign a separate classification from the manual for the employer to use in reporting the payroll and premium of the volunteers.

3. The deemed wage of \$100 is reportable for each volunteer who is on the active roster of the sponsored organization for any part of a month.

616B.818 Termination of coverage for volunteers. (NRS 616A.400, 616B.656)

1. The elective coverage of volunteers remains in effect until:

(a) The electing employer, if he or she is insured by a private carrier, notifies the private carrier, or if he or she is a self-insured employer or member of an association, notifies the Administrator, that the coverage is to be terminated; or

(b) The Administrator or the private carrier finds that an employer electing coverage has not maintained a current roster of volunteers,

↪ whichever occurs earlier.

2. If the private carrier terminates coverage pursuant to paragraph (b) of subsection 1, the private carrier must do so by the issuance of an endorsement changing the coverage of the electing employer's policy.

3. For an employer who is insured by a private carrier, the premium for any period during which coverage was active but the employer did not maintain a roster must be based on the greater of either the number of volunteers who were declared on the application for coverage, or the largest number of volunteers provided on prior rosters.

616C.085 Log of claims. (NRS 616A.400) Each insurer shall maintain a log of claims.

The log must contain the following information:

1. The name of the injured employee.
2. The date on which the alleged injury occurred or disease was reported to the employer.
3. A brief description of the alleged accident and injury of occupational disease, including, without limitation, a statement as to the type of any benefits paid.
4. An entry to indicate whether the claim has been denied.